| 1       | IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA   |  |
|---------|--|--|
| 2 3     | TYERRE LANELL WHITE-HUGH<br>TYERRE LANELL WHITE,                                       | LEY, A/K/A ) NO. 80549<br>) Electronically Filed<br>) Mar 08 2021 03:29 p.m                        |
| 4       | Appellant,   | ) Mar 08 2021 03:29 p.m<br>) Elizabeth A. Brown  |
| 5       | Appendit,  | Clerk of Supreme Cour  |
| 6       | VS.  | )  |
| 7       | THE STATE OF NEVADA,   | )  |
| 8       | Respondent.  | )  |
| 9       | Respondent.  | )  |
| 10      | PETITION FOR REVIEW  |  |
| 11   12 |  | TOTAL VIEW   |
| 13      | DEWAYNE NOBLES   | STEVE B. WOLFSON   |

#### I. JURISDICTION

On December 8, 2020, the Nevada Court of Appeals issued an Order of Affirmance, affirming White-Hughley's conviction and the district court's denial of any credit for time served. (Docket # 20-44516). On December 23, 2020, White-Hughley timely filed a Petition for Rehearing. (Docket # 20-46348). On February 17, 2021, the Nevada Court of Appeals entered an Order Denying Rehearing. (Docket # 21-04605).

NRAP 40B permits an aggrieved party to petition the Nevada Supreme Court for review of a decision of the Court of Appeals within eighteen (18) days after a decision on rehearing. **NRAP 40B(c).** Therefore, this Petition for Review is timely filed within the 18-day time period.

#### II. QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Nevada Court of Appeals' decision misapprehended whether the 70 days of pre-sentence credit earned by White-Hughley in this case was "pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense" per N.R.S. §176.055(1), thereby denying him any credit for time served.

#### III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On October 1, 2019, White-Hughley was arrested and booked into the Clark County Detention Center (CCDC) for outstanding arrest warrants he

had on *two* separate cases. (Appellant's Appendix 035). He remained in custody at CCDC throughout the course of both cases.

In the case presently before the Court, White-Hughley was charged with Invasion of the Home in North Las Vegas Justice Court. (AA. 001). In district court, pursuant to a Guilty Plea Agreement (GPA), White-Hughley pled guilty to Invasion of the Home on November 7, 2019, and was sentenced to prison on January 7, 2019. However, White-Hughley was granted zero days of credit for time served. (AA. 034). Pursuant to the terms of the GPA, the district court ordered that his sentence be served concurrently to his second case. (AA. 034).

In the second case, White-Hughley was charged with Attempt Child Abuse, Battery by Strangulation, and two counts of Battery Domestic Violence in Las Vegas Justice Court. (AA. 002-003). In district court, pursuant to a GPA, White-Hughley pled guilty to Attempt Child Abuse, Battery by Strangulation, and Battery Domestic Violence on October 28, 2019. (AA. 004 & 008-017). He was sentenced to prison on December 9, 2019. (AA. 006). Pursuant to the terms of the GPA, the district court ordered

///

///

that the two felony counts run concurrent to one another. (AA. 006). White-Hughley was granted 70 days of credit for time served. (AA. 006).

In sum, on the day White-Hughley was alleged to have committed the Home Invasion in this case—January 15, 2017—he was not in custody on a prior charge nor on probation or parole from a Nevada conviction. Additionally, White-Hughley was not under a "judgment of conviction for another offense," until after he was sentenced on his second case on December 9, 2019.

At his sentencing hearing, White-Hughley requested a total of 99 days of credit for time served. (AA. 040). That is, all the time he served in custody since his arrest on October 1, 2019, until he was sentenced on January 7, 2020.

However, the district court granted zero (0) days of credit for time served. (AA. 034). Of specific importance to this Petition, the district court even refused to grant White-Hughley the 70 days of credit he earned up until he was sentenced on his second case on December 9, 2019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As to the misdemeanor Battery Domestic Violence count, the district court sat as a magistrate and sentenced Mr. White to credit for time served. (AA. 006).

#### IV. REASONS REVIEW IS WARRANTED

The Nevada Court of Appeals misapprehended the "pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense" language of N.R.S. §176.055 and failed to recognize that, up until December 9, 2019, White-Hughley was not confined pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense.

At his sentencing hearing, White-Hughley requested pre-sentence credit for all the time he spent in confinement from the date of his arrest, October 1, 2019, until his sentencing date on January 7, 2020. The State objected to White-Hughley's request for 99 days of credit. The State responded to his request as follows: "And, unfortunately, it's about 14 unpublished opinions by the Nevada Supreme Court that all state the contrary." (AA. 041) (emphasis added).

The district court agreed with the State and denied White-Hughley any credit, including the 70 days of credit he earned up until he was sentenced on his second case on December 9, 2019. When counsel for White-Hughley asked the district court for any statute or case law that supported denying White-Hughley any pre-sentence credit, the court responded:

It's the unpublished opinion. The Supreme Court has issued that I know of -- I don't know if it's 14, I know about 11 unpublished opinions that basically say we don't double dip, that basically even though you get

picked up simultaneously, one case or the other, it gets credited to one. You don't get to split. Basically that gives you 180 days or in this case 198 days of credit for time served.

(AA. 042).

Whether a defendant is entitled to any credit for the time spent in presentence custody is governed by N.R.S. § 176.055. The statute prescribes, in relevant part, that

whenever a sentence of imprisonment in the county jail or state prison is imposed, a court may order that credit be allowed against the duration of the sentence, including any minimum term or minimum aggregate, as applicable, thereof prescribed by law, for the amount of time which the defendant has actually spent in confinement before conviction, unless the defendant's confinement was pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense.

#### N.R.S. § 176.055 (1).

Although N.R.S. § 176.055 uses the discretionary language of "may order that credit be allowed against the duration of the sentence," this Court has held "that the purpose of the statute is to ensure that all time served is credited towards a defendant's ultimate sentence." **Kuykendall v. State**, 112 Nev. 1285, 1287, 926 P.2d 781, 783 (1996). In fact, this Court recently reiterated that "Nevada law is well-settled that when a district court imposes a sentence in a criminal case, it must give a defendant credit for any time the defendant has actually spent in presentence confinement absent an express

statutory provision making the defendant ineligible for that credit." Poasa v. State, 453 P.3d 387, 388, 2019 Nev. LEXIS 73 \*\*, \*\*1 (2019).

At the sentencing hearing, the State also made a passing reference to a Nevada Supreme Court unpublished opinion to support its position.<sup>2</sup> The prosecutor told the district court: "The one off the top of my head I remember is John Giordano." (AA. 042).

In reality, Giordano v. State, supports White-Hughley's argument that, at a minimum, he is entitled to the pre-sentence credit he earned from the date of his arrest on October 1, 2019, until he was sentenced on December 9, 2019, on his second case. The Nevada Court of Appeals erred in holding that White-Hughley "served those 70 days pursuant to the judgement of conviction for another offense."

In <u>Giordano</u>, the district court had granted the defendant all the presentence credit he earned until the date he was sentenced on a different case.

See id. at \*2 ("Giordano specifically claims that the district court erred by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As this Court is aware, pursuant to NRAP 36 (c)(2), an unpublished opinion "does not establish mandatory precedent." Additionally, an unpublished opinion may be cited for its persuasive value, if "issued by the Supreme Court on or after January 1, 2016." **NRAP 36 (c)(3).**<sup>3</sup> <u>Giordano v. State</u>, 2014 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1738 \* (2014), was issued on October 16, 2014. Therefore, as explained above, not only does it not support the State's position as to the 70 days of credit White-Hughley earned up until the date he was sentenced in his other case, it cannot even be cited for persuasive value.

1

2

3

4

giving him credit for time served only for the period beginning with his arrest in the instant case until the date of his sentencing in district court case no. 272598."). (emphasis added). In short, White-Hughley must at least be granted 70 days of presentence credit as there is no legal basis to deny it.

Although White-Hughley argued at sentencing that he was entitled to 99 days of credit, White-Hughey concedes that §176.055 likely forecloses any credit he earned after December 9, 2019, the day White-Hughley was sentenced to prison in his second case. This argument is based on the specific language contained in N.R.S. §176.055 (1), which states that a defendant is entitled to pre-sentence credit "unless the defendant's confinement was pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense."

However, even conceding this argument, White-Hughley is at a minimum entitled to 70 days of credit for time served—the time he spent in custody from October 1, 2019 through December 9, 2019.

///

///

///

25

26

27

28

///

#### **V. CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, this Court should grant review in the instant