IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TYERRE LANELL WHITE-HUGHLEY, A/K/A TYERRE LANELL WHITE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 01 2021 10:43 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 80549

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Chief Deputy, ALEXANDER CHEN, and answers this Petition for Review in obedience to this Court's order filed March 22, 2021, in the above-captioned case.

This answer is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

Dated this 1st day of April, 2021.

ARGUMENT

"Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion." NRAP 40B(a). Pursuant to that statute, the Supreme Court considers certain factors when determining whether to review a Court of Appeals decision, including, "(1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance; (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance." NRAP 40B(a). Appellants bear the burden of "succinctly stat[ing] the precise basis on which [they] seek[] review by the Supreme Court." NRAP 40B(d).

Appellant raises a single claim in support of Supreme Court review – that the Court of Appeals ("COA") decision regarding his alleged pre-sentence credit was incorrect under NRS 176.055(1). Petition for Review ("Petition") at 2. Specifically, Appellant asserts that his receiving of credit towards his sentence in his separate case on December 9, 2019 did not render his presentence confinement "pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense" for the purposes of NRS 176.055.

APPELLANT DOES NOT REFERENCE, MUCH LESS COGENTLY I. ARGUE AGAINST, THE COA OPINION

As a preliminary issue, the State respectfully requests that this Court reject Appellant's arguments as outside the scope of the instant proceedings. As stated supra., NRS 40B(a) allows for review in very limited scenarios. However, a review of Appellant's Petition reflects that Appellant continues to argue against the district court's decision, and subsequently, the State's Answering Brief before the COA. See generally, Petition. Indeed, Appellant does not quote, or otherwise reference, the COA Opinion a single time in his Petition. See generally, id. Therefore, Appellant fails to cogently set forth a substantive basis for the review of the COA Opinion.

It is the responsibility of an appellant "to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of his appellate concerns." Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); see also NRAP 28(a)(10)(A); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (unsupported arguments are summarily rejected on appeal); Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."); Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority).

In his Petition, it appears that Appellant is simply arguing against the district court's reasoning in declining to award Appellant the presentence credit Appellant requested. See Petition at 5-8. Appellant does not mention, or refute, the COA interpretation of NRS 176.055 at all. See generally, id. As such, it would be illogical to conclude that Appellant has met his burden under NRS 40B(a), when Appellant

has failed to include any cogent argument in support of the same. Furthermore, the State respectfully submits that the district court's reasoning cannot form a basis for granting review of the COA Opinion, as the COA did not adopt the district court's reasoning, and "[a] correct result will not be reversed simply because it is based on the wrong reason." Wyatt v. State, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970).

II. THE **COURT OF APPEALS** CORRECTLY REJECTED APPELLANT'S ATTEMPTED APPLICATION OF NRS 176.055(1)

Moreover, the COA correctly determined that Appellant was not entitled to an additional seventy (70) days of presentence credit under NRS 176.055. As such, the COA Opinion does not warrant review pursuant to NRS 40B(a).

The COA, in affirming Appellant's Judgment of Conviction, summarized:

... White-Hughley argues he is entitled to 70 days' presentence credit in the instant case for the period between his arrest and his sentencing in the abuse case, because the sentence in the instant case was imposed to run concurrently with the sentence in the abuse case. A district court must credit a sentence "for the amount of time which the defendant has actually spent in confinement before conviction, unless [his] confinement was pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense." NRS 176.055(1) (emphasis added); see Poasa v. State, 135 Nev. 426, 429, 453 P.3d 387, 390 (2019) (reaffirming that sentencing courts must grant presentence credit for time served). The district court had applied the 70 days' presentence credit to the sentence in the abuse case. Because White-Hughley served those 70 days pursuant to the judgment of conviction for another offense, we conclude the district court did not abuse its discretion by precluding the 70 days' presentence credit in the instant case.

COA Opinion at 1-2 (emphasis in original). The COA Opinion appears to be a plain reading of the statute, which Appellant does not recognize, much less refute. See generally, Petition. Indeed, the State submits that any attempt at refuting the COA's logic would be unsuccessful, as a plain reading of NRS 176.055 comports with the COA's interpretation.

The Nevada Supreme Court has explained that "[w]hen a statute is facially clear, this court will give effect to the statute's plain meaning and not go beyond the plain language to determine the Legislature's intent." Sonia F. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 125 Nev. 495, 499, 215 P.3d 705, 707 (2009). Reviewing courts, then, must interpret statutes "without rendering words or phrases superfluous or rendering a provision nugatory." Haney v. State, 124 Nev. 408, 411-12, 185 P.3d 350, 353 (2008). Such is the case with NRS 176.055. Pursuant to that statute, as set forth by the COA, defendants are entitled to credit "for the amount of time which the defendant has actually spent in confinement before conviction, unless [his] confinement was pursuant to a judgment of conviction for another offense." COA Opinion at 1 (quoting NRS 176.055) (emphasis in COA Opinion).

In the instant case, Appellant was sentenced on his other case on December 9, 2019, and credit for his presentence confinement between his October 1, 2019, arrest, and that sentencing date (seventy (70) days) was applied to that case. See, Petition at 3-4 (acknowledging that the presentence credit was thus applied). In other words, and seemingly crucial to the COA analysis, Appellant's presentence confinement was applied to "a judgment of conviction for another offense" rather than the instant, underlying case. See NRS 176.055. As such, pursuant to a plain reading of NRS 176.055, as of the time of the judgment of conviction in Appellant's other case, he was no longer entitled to such credit in his instant case, as that confinement was rendered "pursuant to" his *other* judgment of conviction. See COA Opinion at 2 ("The district court had applied the 70 days' presentence credit to the sentence in the abuse case. Because White-Hughley served those 70 days pursuant to the judgment of conviction for another offense, we conclude the district court did not abuse its discretion by precluding the 70 days' presentence credit in the instant case." (Emphasis added)).

The Nevada Supreme Court has determined that the purpose of NRS 176.055 is to ensure defendants receive credit for all time served in confinement. Kuykendall v. State, 112 Nev. 1285, 1286, 926 P.2d 781, 782 (1996). Comparatively, the federal Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, 18 U.S.C. § 3551, follows a similar line to NRS 176.055 and provides for defendants to receive credit for time served in detention prior to the date their sentence commenced, so long as they had not received credit for that time in another sentence. NRS 176.035 is also instructive, as it, while authorizing district courts to run sentences concurrently, does not require that concurrent sentences be identical with respect to time served. Gaines v. State, 116 Nev. 359, 365, 998 P.2d 166, 170 (2000).

Critically, Appellant does not assert that he did not receive any credit for his presentence confinement prior to his sentencing in the other case. See generally, Petition. Nor does Appellant provide any statute or precedent that conflicts with the COA's plain reading of NRS 176.055. See generally, id. Instead, Appellant simply seems dissatisfied with his sentence. Therefore, the State respectfully submits that Appellant has failed to demonstrate that review is warranted under NRS 40B(a).

Additionally, Appellant's proposed reading would lead to absurd results, and/or would render the second clause of NRS 176.055(1) superfluous or nugatory. Haney, 124 Nev. at 411-12, 185 P.3d at 353. Indeed, according to Petitioner's reading of NRS 176.055(1), any presentence confinement coming before a judgment of conviction *cannot* be deemed "pursuant to [that] judgment of conviction." As such, that second clause of NRS 176.055(1) would be rendered meaningless, and would have no effect in the event of a defendant being in custody on multiple cases. That is a result the Nevada Legislature cannot have intended. See Speer v. State, 116 Nev. 677, 679, 5 P.3d 1063, 1064 (2000) ("statutory language should be construed to avoid absurd or unreasonable results...").

Therefore, because Appellant fails to demonstrate that the COA ruled in conflict with Nevada precedent, and because Appellant's proposed interpretation of NRS 176.055(1) would lead to absurd results, the State submits that Appellant has failed to demonstrate the need for Supreme Court review.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing and the record before this Court, the State respectfully submits that Appellant's Petition for Review should be denied.